IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRY MARVIN ELLERBEE JR.,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
v.)	CASE NO. SC10-238
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Okeechobee County, Florida [Criminal Division]

CAREY HAUGHWOUT

Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

Jeffrey L. Anderson Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No.374407 Counsel for Appellant appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and for Okeechobee County, Florida. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before the Court, although Appellee may also be referred to as the state.

The record appeal consists of 30 volumes. Volumes I through V contain the Record portion of the record on appeal and are numbered consecutively 1-665. This portion of the record will be referred to by the volume number followed by the symbol "R" followed by the page number.

Volumes VI-XXV contains the transcripts of hearings and the trial. Volume VI is numbered consecutively 1-123. Volumes VII-XXV is numbered consecutively 1-2731. The transcript portion of the record will be referred to by the volume number followed by the symbol "T" followed by the page number.

There are three volumes of supplemental record on appeal. These volumes are consecutively numbered from 1-254. The supplemental record will be referred to by "SR" followed by the volume and page number.

There are two volumes of evidence documents consecutively numbered 1-327.

These will be referred to by the symbol "E" followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 16, 2006, Appellant Terry Marvin Ellerbee, Jr., was charged with first degree murder; burglary of a dwelling; two counts of grand theft; cruelty to animals; and possession of firearm or ammunition by a convicted felon I R62-65.

A jury trial commenced on June 9, 2009.

After close of the State's case in chief, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal XIX-XX T1825-27, 1857. The motions were denied XIX-XX T1833, 1846-47, 1858. Appellant was found guilty of murder, burglary, two counts of grand theft, and cruelty to animals as charged R224-225, 559. The jury recommended death by an 11-1 vote.

On January 29, 2010, Appellant was sentenced to death for the murder conviction IV R561, 576-96, and to life in prison for the burglary and to 5 years in prison for each of the grand thefts and the cruelty to animals IV R562-566. The trial court entered a judgment for costs including \$37, 492.53 for public defenders fees IV R614. Appellant filed his notice of appeal IV R602. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

Appellant's taped statement was played to the jury XIX T1750. Appellant is 21 years old XIX T1752. Appellant met Amber Reed and spent 41/2 months with her XIX T1755. Amber initially lived with Appellant at XIX T1758. Amber had a baby. Appellant wanted to take care of Amber and the baby which he considered his family XIX T1762. Appellant went to abandoned camps and residences to get away from everything XIX T1760, 62. Appellant talked to Amber about going to the prairie XIX T1760. Appellant wanted to be at the prairie with his family-Amber and the baby XIX T1762. On September 13, 2006, Appellant took Amber and the baby to the prairie in Emmadean Hutchinson's truck XIX T1763. They lived at an abandoned camp site XIX T1764. Life was extremely difficult. Appellant wanted to provide food and formula XIX T1763.

Appellant stated that the family was ordered to leave the camp site XIX T1764. The family moved to another site (i.e. red camp). XIX T1764. Appellant became desperate, hungry and in need for diapers and formula for the baby XIX T1785. Appellant went looking for food and supplies XIX T1785. Appellant came to the house of Thomas Dellarco. In Appellant's statement he initially denied he killed Dellarco or his dog XIX T1772. Appellant later admitted to killing Dellarco and his

dog XIX T1782. Appellant initially approached Dellarco's for berries and stuff because he was hungry XIX T1770.

Appellant walked up to Dellarco's property and had a conversation with Dellarco XIX T1778. After the two men conversed, Dellarco told Appellant he was going to town to do some business XIX T1778. Appellant walked into the woods XIX T1178. Dellarco left 15 minutes later XIX T1778. Appellant then walked toward Dellarco's house. Appellant had to shoot Dellarco's dog because it was aggressive toward him XIX T1779. Appellant went to the house for food and money XIX T1785. Appellant found cigarettes and tuna fish to eat XIX T1803. Appellant found a single shot .20 gauge XIX T1804. Dellarco arrived an hour later XIX T1803. Dellarco saw that his dog was dead and became upset XIX T1779. Dellarco said something about his dog and came in the house XIX T1796. Dellarco called the rest of the dogs XIX T1786. Dellarco went back outside and let the dogs out XIX T1786. Appellant was hiding in the master bedroom when Dellarco came in XIX T1783. Dellarco sat at the kitchen table XIX T1779.

Dellarco started dialing the phone XIX T1787. Appellant could hear the operator or voice recording saying "the number you have reached is no longer in service" XIX T1795. Appellant "spaz-zed out"XIX T1795. Appellant didn't know who Dellarco was calling and wanted to get out of the house T1783. Appellant walked out of the bedroom and fired a shot XIX T1798. Appellant merely wanted to fire a

warning shot XIX T1799. Appellant had closed his eyes when he shot XIX T1799. Appellant wanted to merely scare Dellarco to give Appellant a chance to get away XIX T1799. Because Appellant fired a single shot .22 he was asked "what if you had missed" and Appellant answered "That's what I intended" XIX T1798. Appellant didn't go in the house intending to shoot Dellarco XIX T1793. Appellant didn't decide to shoot Dellarco XIX T1794. Appellant had no intention to hurt anybody –he just wanted something to eat XIX T1794.

After the rifle was fired, Dellarco was sitting in the chair but his head was on the floor XIX T1784. Appellant threw towels down for the blood XIX T1784, 85. Appellant took Dellacro to the garage and threw blankets over him XIX T1784, 1789. Appellant scrubbed the floor XIX 1784. Appellant left and has been on the run ever since XIX T1784. Appellant was desperate, hungry and trying to get diapers and formula for the baby XIX T1785. Appellant was sorry for what happened and would change it if he could go back into time XIX T1791. Appellant took Dellacro's wallet and money XIX T1791. Appellant's statement indicated that he subsequently used Dellacro's debit card numerous times XIX T1768-69. Appellant had to have stuff for the baby XIX T1769.

Amber Striker (also known as Amber Reed) testified she was pregnant when she met Appellant XVIII T1701. Amber and Appellant decided to live together XVIII T1701. On September 13, 2006, Amber lived with Emmadeen Hutchinson XVIII

T1701. Appellant was living at a different location XVIII T1702. Amber borrowed a vehicle to go apply for food stamps XVIII T1702. Amber also picked Appellant up to take him to work XVIII T1702-03. Appellant drove with Amber and the baby in the back seat XVIII T1703. Instead of driving to work Appellant drove to a place called the "prairie" XVIII T1704. They drove around for an hour and ended up at a trailer XVIII T1705. Appellant broke into the trailer XVIII T1705. Amber took the baby inside and began to clean XVIII T1705. They started living in the trailer XVIII T1705. There was no water or electricity XVIII T1705. Appellant hooked up a battery from the vehicle to run a fan inside would bring back water, pots, pans, guns XVIII T1706. Appellant brought back a small .22, a shot gun, and a long .22 XVIII T1706-07.

Amber testified that a man and a woman knocked on the door and told her it was their camper and she needed to leave or they would call the police XVIII T1707. The people left and the Appellant returned in a matter of minutes XVIII T1707. Appellant, Amber and the baby left in Hutchinson's vehicle XVIII T1708. They drove for a while and found a red house (i.e. Red Camp) XVIII T1708. The red house was old, abandoned and run down XVIII T1709. They sat up residence in the red house XVIII T1708. Appellant was nervous and jittery XVIII T1708. Appellant said he deserved to live better than the red house XVIII T1709. A day or two or later Appellant left red camp for a couple of hours XVIII T1709, 1735. He returned at dusk with a blue SUV XVIII T1709. Appellant was happy, excited, bouncing all over the place XVIII

T17098. Appellant bought baby cereal, wipes, diapers, and two little outfits at Walmart in Sebring XVIII T1710-11. They then went to a motel and stayed one night XVIII T1711. They had pizza delivered XVIII T1712.

Amber testified the next day they went back and stayed at red camp XVIII T1713. The baby was fussing and Appellant was aggravated XVIII T1713. Appellant pulled Amber to him and told her he killed a man XVIII T1713. Appellant said he had to kill the man's dog because it was jumping at him XVIII T1713. Appellant said he had met the man before and the man loaned him a truck XVIII T1714. Appellant said he had to wait for the man to get home XVIII T1714.

Amber testified they traveled to several different locations and Appellant used the man's ATM cards XVIII T1715. Amber filled out a check and Appellant tried to cash it XVIII T1715-165. Appellant was unsuccessful in cashing the check XVIII T1716. They returned to red camp. At one point in time Appellant said they were going to move in the home XVIII T1717. Appellant said he would bury Dellarco XVIII T1717. Appellant said it would be a while before the power would be cut off for failure to pay the electric bill XVIII T1717. Appellant said Dellarco did not have any family to check up on him XVIII T1717. Appellant started getting nervous because there were police cars in the area and they might have found Dellarco XVIII T1724. Appellant, Amber and the baby left red camp XVIII T1724. They ended up staying in a tent XVIII T1725.

Appellant returned to red camp and said police were pulling Hutchinson's truck out XVIII T1725. Appellant would later return to red camp for diapers, wipes and other stuff for the baby XVIII T1725-26. Appellant picked up a generator and threw a long .22 in the bushes XVIII T1726. Appellant and Amber went to Eddie Carrol's house where they were arrested XVIII T1726.

Emmadean Hutchinson testified that Appellant and Amber Reed were in a relationship in 2006 and they moved in with her XIV T1232. Appellant moved out and Amber stayed XIV T1232. On September 13, 2006, Hutchinson loaned Amber her Ford Explorer but she did not return it XIV T1233. Hutchinson eventually got her truck back from the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office XIV T1236.

Anna Jones testified that the Prairie is a rural area without many houses XIV T1238. Jones owns 3.75 acres with a travel trailer on it XIV T1239. On September 20, 2006, Jones noticed signs that someone was living in the trailer XIV T1241. Jones knocked on the door and told her she had no right to be on the property XIV T1214-42. The girl said her boyfriend indicated they could be there XIV T1242. Jones noticed a two week old baby XIV T1243. Jones noticed a Ford Explorer which was later identified as belonging to Emmadean Hutchinson XIV T1243-44. Jones told the girl she had until 3 o'clock to leave XIV T1243. Jones returned later with the police XIV T1246. The girl, baby, and the vehicle were gone XIV T1246. The girl looked jittery and thin as if she was on drugs XIV T1246-47.

Geraldine Baker testified that Thomas Dellarco is her brother XIV T1225. She last talked to him on September 19 XIV T1227. Baker contacted police to perform a welfare check XIV T1228.

Auxiliary deputy Phillip Hardin testified that on September 26, 2006, he was called to Thomas Dellarco's residence XVI T1413. Three dogs ran up to the gate XVI T1415. No one responded at the house XVI T1416. Hardin left a note in the mailbox for Dellarco to contact his sister. XVI T1416.

Ginger Brooks testified that on September 19 she called Dellarco and made arrangements to do something cleaning at his house XIV T1264. Brooks went to Dellarco's residence on September 21 at 5:45 XIV T1265-66. Brooks saw Appellant at the house XIV T1266. Brooks asked if Dellarco was home XIV T1267. Appellant said Dellarco went to town with friends XIV T1267. Brooks said she was there to clean the house XIV T1267. Appellant said it had already been cleaned XIV T1267. Brooks said she wished she had been told because it was a waste of time and gas XIV T1267. Appellant offered her gas money XIV T1267. Brooks said no and left XIV T1267.

Sean Bennis testified he lived with Thomas Dellarco for a year and had moved out 3 months prior XV T1290-91. Bennis found Dellarco's body on Sepetember 29, 2006 XV T1312. Where Bennis went to Dellarco's house he noticed Dellarco's vehicle was gone XV T1300. As Bennis walked up to the house he could smell that

something was dead XV T16301. Bennis went to the back and saw the dogs in the pool cage XV T1301. Five of the dogs were there, but Bennis did not see the sixth dog XV T1303. Bennis went in the house XV T1303. It was a mess XV T1304. Bennis went into the utility room and saw something dead under a blanket in the garage XV T1304. The kitchen and dining room were in disarray with all the drawers open and looked as if they had been gone through XV T1311. Bennis had previously left a .20 gauge that had been kept by the front door XV T1316-17. Bennis didn't see it there anymore XV T1317. Bennis called 911 XV T1304.

Dr, Charles Diggs testified he was the medical examiner and performed an autopsy on Thomas Dellarco on October 2, 2006 XV T1327. The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head XV T1334. The wound would cause immediate death XV T1342. There was no other trauma to Dellarco XV T1342. The bullet entered the top of the skull, almost in the middle, and went through the brain tissue then placed behind the left eye XV T1331, 1328. Diggs also performed a necropsy on a dog XV T1335. The dog had been shot three times – once in the head area, once in the back area, and once in the leg XV T1336. Diggs could not determine the order of the gunshots XV T1343.

Crime scene technician Kathleen Watson testified she went to Dellarco's residence on September 29, 2006 XVI T1423. There were cigarettes butts throughout the house XVI T1430-33. The air conditioning was not working XVI T1435. There

was a receipt on the table dated September 21, 2006, at 16:48 XVI T1439. There was a blood stain pattern on a chair XVI T1441. It was a contact smear XVI T1442. There were other droplets of blood XVI T1442. There was a wiping or cleaning up pattern XVI T1443. There was blood in the Northeast and Southeast bedrooms XVI T1449. The blood was consistent with someone moving within the room and leaving blood behind XVI T1451. There was blood by the sink with a wiping pattern XVI T1452. There was blood near the garage area XVI T1444. In Watson's opinion the incident occurred around the kitchen area, the body was dragged to the garage area, and there was an attempt to clean up XVI T1462, 1463. No useable prints were found in the residence XVI T1463. Watson testified it was too speculative to say where Dellarco was when he was shot XVI T1476.

Earl Ritzline testified as a criminalist in the Indian River Crime Laboratory XVIII T1638. Ritzline testified that Appellant's DNA matched that of some cigarettes butts in the residence XVIII 1678-80. There were other cigarettes butts that did not match Appellant's DNA XVIII T1684. None of the DNA could be linked to Thomas Dellarco XVIII T1689. Some DNA could be from another person XVIII T1690.

Mark Chapman of the Indian River Crime Laboratory testified as a firearm examiner XVII T1545-46. Chapman examined the bullets taken from Dellarco and the dog XVII T1553, 1557. Chapman excluded the bullets taken from Dellarco as coming

from Exhibit 128- a .22 revolver XVII T1558. Chapman excluded the bullets from the dog as coming from Exhibit 128 XVII T1559.

Carol Chapman worked as a teller for bank of America in Sebring in 2006 XV T1371. Chapman testified that on September 25, 2006, she was presented a check made out to Terry Ellerbee written on the account of Thomas Dellarco XV T1374. The man presented a drivers license for Terry Ellerbee XV T1377. The check was for \$1000 XV T1376. The signature for Dellarco did not match the signature on file for Dellarco XV T1377. There were insufficient funds in the account to cover the check XV T1379. Chapman required a thumbprint of the person presenting the check XV T1376. Chapman did not cash the check XV T1379. Chapman kept the check XV T1379. The thumbprint on the check was later determined to match Appellant's thumbprint XVI T1410.

Mahatou Patel owns a small motel in Sebring XV T1350. Patel testified that his card shows that Terry Ellerbee rented a room on September 21 and September 25 of 2006 XV T1352-54.

Thomas Dellarco's bank statements showed a number of transactions on September 23, 24, 25 and 26 XV T1360-68.

Detective Richard Durfee testified that he went to the crime scene XVII T1485.

Durfee followed some tire tracks in the area to a vehicle and a shack XVII T1487-88.

The area was known as red camp XVII T1489. The vehicle belonged to Emmadean

Hutchinson XVII T1489. Wires ran from the vehicle's battery to a fan in the house XVII T1490. Durfee went inside the shack for his safety XVII T1491. No one was inside XVII T1492. Durfee called for a tow truck and waited at the road XVII T1493.

When Durfee returned to the camp he noticed that someone had been there XVII T1493. Durfee called for other officers and went inside the shack again XVII T1495. Items inside had been moved XVII T1496. Durfee later searched red camp XVII T1497. Red camp was two rooms a kitchen and a bathroom XVII T1503. It had electricity running to it XVII T1504. Inside red camp were baby bottles XVII T1505. There was also a check from Thomas Dellarco to Amber Reed for \$1,000 XVII T1513. A shirt was found that had Dellarco's Bank of America visa card XVII T1515-16. Inside a pair of pants was a wallet with Dellarco's driver's license XVII T1518-19. A box of shotgun shells and .22 ammunition was found XVII T1506-09. Appellant's fingerprint matched the print on the box XVII T1534.

Detective Durfee testified he searched Appellant's room at the residence where Appellant was arrested. Durfee collected receipts from a baby bag XVII T1574. A pin number to a Bank of America card was found in Appellant's wallet XVII T1578. A 20 gauge shotgun was found in the closet area XVII T1583. A gun also found XVII T1579.

PENALTY PHASE

Dr. Michael Riordan is a neural and forensic psychologist XXII T2124 -- 25. Dr. Riordan examined Appellant and reviewed various records including hospital and jail records etc. XXII T2127-28. Riordan examined Appellant on November 17, 2006 for two to three hours, on March 23, 2007 for nine hours, and on May 22, 2009 for two hours. XXII T2129. Riordan performed mental status examinations and clinical interviews. XXII T2130. The tests are not usable without neurological training. XXII T2132. Appellant is memory and learning impaired XXII T2134. Appellant had neuropsychological deficits that were related to his mother's pregnancy XXII T2136. At the age of five Appellant fell from a bunk bed and busted his head to open which required five stitches at the hospital XXII T2136. Appellant also suffered head trauma when assaulted and rendered unconscious XXII T2136. Appellant had four occasions of head trauma XXII T2210. The head trauma could account for poor memory function and other areas of dysfunction XXII T2137. Appellant became more vulnerable because of the added head trauma XXII T2137. There is a strong likelihood that Appellant's mother's consumption of alcohol during pregnancy contributed to neuropsychological deficits XXII T2138.

Dr. Riordan found cognitive disorder XXII T2138. Both the mother and father used alcohol and illicit drugs prior to Appellant's birth XXII T2139. Appellant had a lack of stable household during his development years XXII T2139. Appellant was a

victim of domestic violence between the parents XXII T2139. There were instances where the children were sent to bed hungry XXII T2140. There was physical and mental abuse XXII T2140. Nurturing was lacking XXII T2140. Appellant was told that he was not wanted by his mother XXII T2140. Appellant's mother reinforced that by not being in Appellant's life for different periods of time XXII T2140. Appellant was choked by his mother XXII T2140. These things make person vulnerable to a mental disorder XXII T2140.

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