## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CASE NO.: SC10-238

#### TERRY MARVIN ELLERBEE, JR.,

## Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

## Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKEECHOBEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Drive #900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

# **

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

Ellerbee claims that the trial court erroneously instructed on the "vulnerability due to advanced age or disability circumstance" aggravator. He argues that this particular aggravator is only applicable if Dellarco was actually disabled or if he was actually vulnerable because of his age, neither of which he asserts was true. The State contends that no such error occurred and there was sufficient evidence to warrant the court instructing on this aggravator. This matter is simply without merit and this Court should affirm.

Where there is evidence of a mitigating or aggravating factor present at a trial, the trial court is required to give an instruction on that factor. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 416, 420 (Fla. 1990); <u>Bowden v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 225, 231 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 975 (1992)(where evidence of robbery presented, court must
instruct on the relevant aggravator even if the court later finds it unproved); <u>Welch</u> <u>v. State</u>, 992 So.2d 206, 215-216 (Fla. 2008). However, the state must prove applicable aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt before a court can apply it. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla.1980).

A Court may give a jury instruction on aggravators if there is credible and competent evidence to support it. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244, 252 (Fla.1995); <u>Welch</u>, 992 So.2d at 2215-216. It is not error for a court to give a proper instruction on the aggravator even if it could not have existed as a matter of law. <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 612 So.2d 575 (Fla.1993)(trial court instructed on HAC but later found it unproved.) Simply because the State does not prove an aggravating factor does not mean that there was insufficient evidence of the factor to allow a jury to consider it.

The Legislature intended that the trial judge determine the sentence with advice and guidance provided by a jury, the one institution in the system of Anglo-American jurisprudence most honored for fair determinations of questions decided by balancing opposing factors. If the advisory function were to be limited initially because the jury could only consider those mitigating and aggravating circumstances which the trial judge decided to be appropriate in a particular case, the statutory scheme would be distorted. The jury's advice would be preconditioned by the judge's view of what they were allowed to know. The judge should not in any manner inject his preliminary views of the proper sentence into the jurors' deliberations, for after the jury has rendered its advisory sentence the judge has the affirmative duty to decide the sentence in the context of his exposure to the law and his practical experience. As we acknowledged in Dixon, "to a layman, no capital crime might appear to be less than heinous, but a trial judge with experience in the facts of criminality" can serve as a buffer where the jury allows emotion to override the duty of a deliberate determination.

<u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133, 1140 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925; Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Fla. 1986); Bowden, 588 So.2d at 231.

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 1366 (Fla.1994) the trial court did not find that the murder was committed during the course of a felony although it had instructed the jury on that. At trial, evidence was presented that the robbery victim had jewelry in her purse or a container which was missing after her murder. There was also evidence that the defendant had no money before the murder but after had sold some jewelry in order to buy cocaine. This Court held that evidence sufficient to warrant presenting to the jury the issue of whether the murder was committed during the commission of a felony.

The trial court in <u>Welch</u> instructed on CCP but later did not find it. This Court held that the instruction was proper since the State had presented relevant evidence supporting CCP. The Medical Examiner testified that it took Welch seven to thirty minutes to kill the victims. Welch had also written a threatening note earlier to the victim. He cleaned up after the murders and stole items. The Court held that this was credible evidence supporting CCP. <u>Welch</u>, 992 So.2d at 2215216.

The first case in this state to consider this aggravator was <u>Francis v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 110 (Fla. 2001). This Court held that the aggravator was not vague and that "the legislature intended to make this aggravating circumstance fact-sensitive" in particular cases rather than simply relying on a chronological age. <u>Id.</u> at 139. In the <u>Francis</u> case, this Court found that "the manner of the death and the nature of the wounds appear to have very little relationship to the vulnerability of the victims prior to their death." The Court found that it did not apply because the evidence showed that the two victims were healthy, active 66 year old women who required no assistance in their daily lives. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>Miller v. State</u>, 42 So.3d 204 (Fla. 2010) this Court upheld the aggravator where the victim was physically healthy but suffered from the beginning stages of Alzheimer's Disease. She was targeted because of her inability to recall events which had just happened. In <u>Woodel v. State</u>, 985 So.2d 524 (Fla. 2008) the victim was not targeted because of her disability but had limited use of her arm due to a previous injury and, thus, could not defend herself well. <u>Id.</u> at 531. This Court also specifically stated that a significant disparity in age between the victims and their attacker is a proper consideration for this aggravator and the finding of this aggravator is not dependent on the defendant targeting his or her victim on account

of the victim's age or disability. Woodel v. State, 804 So.2d 316, 325 (Fla. 2001).

Here, Dellarco was 72 years old who had a number of health problems, including gout and arthritis. (T14 1260-85, 15 1345-47) He was easily exhausted doing the most ordinary of tasks, was almost blind, had trouble hearing, and could barely walk even using canes. (T14 1282, 15 1292-94) He could no longer complete even standard upkeep on his house and yard. His friends Brooks and Bennis did his cleaning and yard work. (T14 1260-64, 15 1292-94) Bennis had lived with him until shortly before Dellarco was killed and did most of the chores and errands. He stocked the house with groceries because of Dellarco's disabilities. (T15 1292-94) Dellarco was planning on moving in with his relatives because he could no longer take care of himself living alone. He was actively trying to sell his house and Brooks was coming over to get it ready for the realtor to show it. (T 15 1281-85, 1317-21) Dellarco was much more physically disabled and vulnerable than the victims in Woodel and Miller. Furthermore, while there was no direct evidence explicitly saying so, it is likely that Ellerbee targeted Dellarco, rather than some of the other area residents, because he saw an elderly old man who lived alone. He, in fact, told Reed that no one would miss the old man because he had no family around. (T18 1716-17) There was sufficient evidence presented to the jury for the court to instruct on this aggravator.

Even if this Court determines that it was error for the court to give this instruction, any error is harmless. "[S]ince Florida juries do not issue findings as to aggravating and mitigating factors, the courts are required to presume that unsupported factors did not weigh with the jury, provided the jury was properly instructed." Johnson, 612 So.2d at 576. Where the jury is properly instructed and the trial court does not find the circumstance to exist, any error is harmless. Id.; Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774, 779 (Fla.1983) (Trial court instructed on HAC and great risk to many people, neither of which it found.); Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992); Henry, 649 So.2d 1366.

#### **POINT V**

## THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO ASK RIORDAN IF HE CALLED THE JAIL UPON DIAGNOSING ELLERBEE WITH A BI-POLAR DISORDER. (Restated)

Ellerbee argues that the trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to ask Dr. Riordan whether he called the jail to alert the authorities of his diagnosis and Ellerbee's possible need for medication. He contends that the information was irrelevant and biased the jury against Riordan, Ellerbee's only mental health expert. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the question and answer. This claim is without merit and should be denied.

Admission of evidence is within the court's discretion, and its ruling will be affirmed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. Williams v. State, 967 So.2d 735, 748 (Fla. 2007); San Martin v. State, 717 So. 2d 462, 470-471 (Fla. 1998)(A trial court has wide discretion in areas concerning the admission of evidence, and, unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its rulings will not be disturbed.); Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997)."Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." White v. State, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002); Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n.2 (Fla. 2000); Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1990). The State submits that Ellerbee has not demonstrated an abuse of discretion in the instant case.

As Ellerbee notes, the prosecutor asked Riordan if he called the jail to its personnel of his diagnosis of bi-polar disorder in Ellerbee. Trial counsel objected on the basis of relevance and the State argued the question went to witness bias. (T22 2263) The court allowed the question since it went to bias and credibility but warned the State from using it to impugn Riordan's ethics. (Id. at 2264) The State

then limited the question to that single issue and only argued Riordan's lack of action reflected on the credibility of his diagnosis. (T25 2649) "[T]he decision as to whether a particular question properly goes to interest, bias, or prejudice lies within the discretion of the trial judge." <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 818 So.2d 432, 448 (Fla.2002)(quoting Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 608.5 (1997 ed.). In <u>Tanzi v. State</u>, 964 So.2d 106 (Fla. 2007) this court upheld the impeachment of an expert witness with prior, unrelated act of misconduct, finding that an expert's actions showing bias toward the defense were relevant to his credibility as a mental health expert. Here, the issue is one of inaction but the same principle applies.

Finally, any error is harmless. The jury heard Riordan's testimony. They knew that there was no documentation of any previous diagnosis for any mental illness or disorder. Evidence of his outdoor skills and ability to plan were there as well. They also heard Landrum's opinion to the contrary regarding Ellerbee's mental state and health. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986) This claim should be denied.

## **POINT VI**

# THE TRIAL COURT ADEQUATELY CONSIDERED ALL MITIGATION EVIDENCE. (Restated)

Ellerbee claims that the trial court failed to consider the statutory mitigators although it did instruct the jury on them. He argues that this was reversible error because the error was not harmless. Specifically, he contends that the court simply dismissed the statutory mitigators of age, extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and no significant criminal history rather than properly evaluating them. The trial court, however, did consider all the evidence presented by the defense and in the trial in its very detailed sentencing order. This Court should affirm the sentence.

This Court has stated that a trial court must expressly evaluate in its sentencing order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it is supported by the evidence. <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla.1990); <u>see also Rogers v. State</u>, 783 So.2d 980, 995 (Fla.2001); <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 906, 913 (Fla.2002). Here, as conceded by Ellerbee, the trial court did instruct the jury on these statutory mitigators. [T24 2583-85;25 2709-10] In <u>Groover v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 1077 (Fla.1994) the defendant argued that the trial court failed to consider nonstatutory mitigation in its sentencing order. This Court rejected that contention and held that "[w]hen a trial judge instructs a

jury that it can consider nonstatutory mitigating evidence, '[w]e must presume that the judge followed his own instructions to the jury.'" <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Johnson v</u>. <u>Dugger</u>, 520 So.2d 565, 566 (Fla.1988)). The same reasoning applies to statutory mitigators as well. This Court should presume that the trial court considered these mitigators.

While Ellerbee is correct that the court wrote "the Defense presented no statutory mitigating factors," (R4 585) its analysis did not end there. During the penalty phase trial the State presented evidence of Ellerbee's prior felony convictions and his probationary status. (T21 2016-32) Tellingly, Appellant did not submit this statutory mitigator, or any of the others, for the trial court's consideration in his sentencing memorandum, essentially bowing to the evidence at the trial and abandoning his pursuit of these three statutory mitigators. [R 285-287] The trial court considered and discussed that evidence when it found the aggravator regarding Ellerbee being on active felony probation. [R4 574-575] This evidence and the court's analysis are directly counter to a finding of lack of significant criminal history and the sentencing order implicitly found the statutory mitigator of lack of significant criminal history not proved or withdrawn.

The trial court specifically addressed all the mental health evidence presented at the trial and hearings in its discussion of the non-statutory mitigators

requested by Ellerbee in his sentencing order. Landrum opined Ellerbee suffered only from substance abuse, oppositional defiant, and conduct disorders. Riordan opined that he had a possible cognitive and bi-polar disorder. Neither of the experts characterized any possible disorder as "extreme." The evidence did not support this statutory mitigator. Again, Ellerbee did not request the statutory mitigator regarding mental health in his sentencing order, thereby abandoning his pursuit of it. [R4 574-575] The court analyzed the evidence presented by both Riordan and Landrum in detail. [R4 591-594] It found only one mental health non-statutory mitigator (cognitive disorder) proven at all; all the others it found to be not proven. Id. It is simply false to state that the court failed to consider or to evaluate this mitigator. The trial judge found and considered evidence of appellant's mental state at the time of the crime when it discussed the non-statutory mitigators. Blackwood v. State, 777 So.2d 399, 410 (Fla. 2000). This claim is without merit.

Ellerbee specifically argues that the trial court's failure to consider the age mitigator was prejudicial. Initially, given that he had three felony convictions and was on probation before he turned 21 years old itself belies this mitigator. Generally, young age is a mitigator when it is evidence of inexperience. <u>State v.</u> <u>Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1973). Ellerbee's prior *felony* convictions show experience, not youthful immaturity and inexperience. Furthermore, any error by

the trial court to consider this mitigator is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla.1986). The trial court found four substantial aggravating circumstances, including murder committed during the course of a burglary and CCP. It gave little or minimal weight to the twenty-three mitigating circumstances discussed in the sentencing order. Even if the trial court had expressly considered this statutory mitigation, there is no reasonable doubt that the trial court would have imposed the death penalty. Indeed, the trial court stated that the "aggravating circumstances substantially outweigh the ... mitigating factors." [R4 594] See Blackwood, 777 So.2d at 410(finding trial court's failure to consider statutory mitigator of age was harmless); see also Singleton v. State, 783 So.2d 970, 977 (Fla.2001) (holding that trial court's error in failing to address nonstatutory mitigation was harmless because the mitigators would not outweigh the aggravation in the case); Bates v. State, 750 So.2d 6 (Fla.1999); Orme v. State, 25 So.3d 536 (Fla. 2009). The sentence should be affirmed.

#### **POINT VII**

## THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE EVIDENCE FROM THE RED CAMP. (Restated)

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